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ROUND TOWER CHURCHES SOCIETY TOURS 

 

12th May at 10am Norton Subcourse, Thorpe next Haddiscoe, Had-

discoe, before AGM at Haddiscoe Village Hall at 2.15pm. Bring lunch. 

 

Saturday Tours, first Church 2.30pm 

 

2nd  June           Pentlow, Little Bradley, Bartlow 

        

7th July             East Lexham, Shereford, Syderstone 

 

4th August        Thorpe Abbotts, Needham, Rushall 

 

1st September   Worthing, Bylaugh, Haveringland 

 

**********************  

 

CHURCH TOURS 

 

on Sundays, first Church at 2.30pm 

 

15th April        Coltishall, Hoveton St Peter, Hoveton St John, Horning 

 

20th May          Reymerston, Hardingham, Kimberley, Carlton Forehoe 

 

17th June          Ingoldisthorpe, Snettisham, Heacham, Sedgeford  

 

15th July          Sparham, Elsing, Swanton Morley, Foxley 

 

Everyone is welcome to join us, and all Tours are free, though dona-

tions are encouraged at every church. Teas will be provided by one of 

the churches during each afternoon. The Sunday Tours normally end 

with an optional form of Evening Prayer at 6pm or 6.30pm. The Ser-

vice on 18th June will be the Benefice Evensong at Diss at 6pm. Fur-

ther details from 'Lyn Stilgoe 01328 738237. 
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The next issue is June 2018                      

and the deadline for contribu-

tions is 15th April 2018.       
 

Please send items for publication 

either as email attachments or on 

disc as separate files ï text,            

photos, drawings etc. or by post to: 

 

Anne Woollett and Paul Hodge 

The Cardinalôs Hat 

Back Street 

Reepham 

Norfolk 

NR10 4SJ 

Tel: 01603 870452 

anne.woollett@tiscali.co.uk 

For up to date information visit the 

website. For up to the minute infor-

mation follow us on Twitter or like us 

on Facebook.  Links to our Facebook 

page and our Twitter feed can be 

found on the website. 

www.roundtowers.org.uk 

Membership Subscription 
 

Minimum £20 (overseas £30)          

a year of which 25% goes towards 

the printing and posting of The 

Round Tower magazine and                     

administration. The rest goes to the 

Repair Fund of the RTCS. 

Magazines are published in March, 

June, September and December. 

The membership renewal  date  is  

the  first day of the month follow-

ing  the  application  for member-

ship. 

To  join the  Society or to make any 

enquiry about your membership   

please  contact:- Mrs Teresa 

Wiggin 

Fir Tree Cottage, Witnesham, 

Ipswich, Suffolk  IP6 9EX 

Tel: 01473 785596  

email wigjter@outlook.com  

There are good reasons to receive the 

magazine as a PDF as well as a paper 

copy. Firstly colour photographs are 

in colour. Secondly the text can be 

read in as large a font size or as small 

a font size as you like.  

Email pt.hodge@tiscali.co.uk to re-

ceive the magazine as a PDF.  

This edition of the magazine real-

ly benefits from being seen in col-

our. 
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Round Towers and Scratch Dials. 

 
Round towered churches are of course a feature of many Norfolk vil-

lages. Having time on my hands on a crisp February day I decided it 

was high time to take another one off my visit list. I had heard of a 

small and ancient church not far away and settled on a plan to see it. 

The church of St Margaret in the Norfolk village of Worthing, just 

off the road from Holt to Dereham is associated with the Elmham 

group of churches. The group is part of the Sparham Deanery in 

the Diocese of Norwich. This is an ancient building of great charm, 

standing in peaceful solitude. It is some distance south east of the 

village, which has moved steadily away over the centuries. In sum-

mer St Margaretôs must be easy to miss, situated as it is behind the 

roadside hedgerow. On a cold winter day the simple outline of the 

church emerges into view from the road past the village through 

the leafless trees ahead. A short drive on a track to the left reveals 

the churchyard gate. 
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The round tower of St Margaretôs is barely as high as the nave to 

which it is attached. It was not always like this. The tower belfry has 

disappeared following a collapse lost to memory. But it is substantial 

for all that and gives the whole building a unique ñfeelò. Old as the 

tower is, built in the Middle Saxon period 900-1000AD the nave is 

older still*.  In the quiet isolation there is a sense that this structure 

has absorbed the secrets of time. There is another sense also, that in 

deference to this absorbed wisdom the village itself has moved away 

to make respectful space for a holiness of silence. 

The south porch reveals reminders of busier and more prosperous 

times. There is a fine Norman arch with zig-zag moulding which rep-

resents a major devotional investment in a modest building which 

otherwise reflects the humble location it was built to serve. But also 

to the left of the door are the familiar markings of a medieval scratch 

dial ï of the type which proliferate and survive in so many churches. 

These sun dials had a specific purpose before the arrival of mechani-

cal clocks.  
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A scratch dial (also known as a mass dial) is usually in a circular shape, 

carved into the exterior church wall and used to tell the time of church 

services. At the centre of the dial is a hole where a small peg (a óstyleô 

or ógnomonô) was inserted to act as a simple sundial marker. Usually 

they have only three or four radiating sections rather than a full 360 

degree of lines as it was only necessary to tell the time (or more specif-

ically the hour) of services, so extra lines were unnecessary. At St Mar-

garetôs the dial is well worn and ragged but unmistakably bears witness 

to the diurnal round of worship, active, measured and regular. 

But there is more. It starts with the fact that the east wall of the 

church has no window. It seems that the chancel which would 

have incorporated a window has long since disappeared, replaced 

by a expanse of flint, supported by recycled stone and some in-

teresting brickwork which identifies these works as happening 

within the last couple of centuries.  



7 

Among this reorganised rubble is another scratch dial. This one at 

head-height incised on one of the stones. It is better preserved than 

the south porch example. But here of course its presence reflects its 

redundancy in the centuries of the mechanical clock. But the stone 

continued to be useful. A time for every purpose. 

This article is taken from the website Dave Betterton Miscellany 

and is published here with the kind permission of Dave Betterton. 

All photographs by Dave Betterton. *While W J Goode argues that the 

tower is Saxon it is now generally thought that it collapsed and was rebuilt in the 

18th Century. Eds. 
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Remembering 70 years. RAF Swannington 1944-1947.  

 
On November 11th the 70th anniversary of the closure of RAF 

Swannington was commemorated at Haveringland St Peterôs church 

with a very well attended Remembrance Day service. There were 

numerous representatives from the Armed Services, a Deputy Lord 

Lieutenant of Norfolk and descendants of airmen who flew from 

here as well as local parishioners and other visitors.  

Haveringland, St Peter. A drawing by Dot Shreeve. 

The airfield was built in the park of Haveringland Hall. Local resident 

Nigel Boldero gave an account of the airfield which was started in 

1942 when the woodland was cut down and concreted over and the 

Hall requisitioned for the officers mess. The airfield was in action in 

1944-1945 as the base of two squadrons (85th and 157th) that flew De 

Havilland Mosquitos. Mosquitos (or the wooden wonders as they were 

known because of their wooden frames) were speedy and versatile air-

craft used to intercept Luftwaffe aircraft and to support RAF Bomber 

Command operations over Germany.  

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/RAF_Bomber_Command
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/RAF_Bomber_Command
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Aerial view of the site of the airfield today. St Peterôs church is 

bottom right. 

A Mosquito aircraft with St Peters church in the background. 
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Australian squadrons with Spitfires were also based at Swannington in 

1945. In March 1945 the airfield was bombed, the last bombing of a 

British airfield in WWII. Between 1946 and 1947 aircraft were ser-

viced and modified for sale at the base which was closed in 1947. The 

Hall was blown up in 1948 but there are some remains of the airfield 

buildings including the concrete road to the church. Go to the Geo-

graph article for more information http://www.geograph.org.uk/article/

RAF-Swannington. 


